
 

 

NORTH CAROLINA ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL 
COMMISSION MINUTES 

MARCH 24, 2009 
 
 

The following narrative and summary highlights action taken by the North Carolina Alcoholic Beverage 
Control Commission at its regular meeting on March 24, 2009, beginning at 10:00 AM. The meeting was 
recorded and the disk is on file at the ABC Commission in the Legal Division. 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Chairman Douglas A. Fox and Commissioner John Lyon were present at the meeting. 
 
MINUTES OF FEBRUARY 10, 2009, MEETING 
 
Chairman Fox made a motion to waive the reading of the minutes from the February 10, 2009, meeting 
into the record. Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. So Ordered. Chairman Fox made a motion to approve 
the minutes from the February 10, 2009, meeting. Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. So Ordered. 
 
EXECUTIVE ORDER REGARDING CONFLICTS OF INTEREST  
 
As required by Executive Order Number One, Chairman Fox asked Commissioner Lyon if there were any 
conflicts of interest or any conditions or facts that might create the appearance of a conflict of interest 
with respect to any matters on the Agenda. Commissioner Lyon stated he found no conflicts of interest. 
Chairman Fox stated that he had no conflicts. 
 
I. HEARING CASES - 69  
 
Chief Counsel Fred A. Gregory stated that Mr. Ben Smith, former store manager of hearing case #26, 
Lowes Foods 176, was present to speak. Mr. Smith stated the cashier disregarded their training to prevent 
the sale of alcoholic beverages to underage persons. He said the store had programs to prevent the sale to 
underage persons which consisted of computer based training, POS items, cash register prompts and 
driver license guidebooks at each store. Mr. Smith stated they have self inspections quarterly by the Loss 
Prevention Department of stores. Mr. Smith asked that the penalty be reduced because of the efforts 
Lowes Foods takes in preventing underage alcohol sales in the stores. Mr. Smith said he had copies of the 
cashier’s acknowledgements of training that she signed the day she sold. 
 
Commissioner Lyon asked Mr. Smith what was the cashier’s excuse. Mr. Smith replied the cashier said 
she didn’t do what she was suppose to do. Commissioner Lyon asked if she knew the person who bought 
the alcohol. Mr. Smith replied she did not. 
 
Chairman Fox asked Mr. Smith if the cashier was still working with Lowes. Mr. Smith replied she was 
terminated because of Lowes’ policy. 
 
Commissioner Lyon made a motion to reduce the penalty to $1,800.00. Seconded by Chairman Fox. So 
Ordered. 
 
Chief Counsel Gregory stated that Mr. Rick Faber, manager of First Offense case #13, Lowes Foods 162, 
was present to speak. Mr. Faber stated the business is located near North Carolina State University.      
Mr. Faber said he personally did the orientation for the employee who sold an alcoholic beverage to a 



 

2 

 

person under 21 years of age.  Mr. Faber said the employee’s explanation to him was that they were busy 
and backed up. Mr. Faber stated it cost the employee his job. Mr. Faber asked for leniency. 
 
Chairman Fox asked Chief Counsel Gregory if the penalty had already been reduced. Mr. Gregory replied 
it should had been a $1,200.00 offense but they had gone ten years without a violation and it was reduced 
to $600.00. 
 
Chairman Fox said he didn’t know what could be done because it was already at $600.00 because they 
were given credit for ten years of good work.  
 
Chairman Fox made a motion to ratify the Offer in Compromise as is. Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. 
So Ordered. 
 
Chief Counsel Gregory stated that Mr. Sam Clary, manager of hearing case #13, Wrightsville Beach 
Marina, was present to speak. Mr. Clary apologized for the violation and the employee had not received 
proper training. Mr. Clary said they had very few alcohol sales but it is an important part of their business.  
 
Chairman Fox asked Mr. Clary if they had taken the class and he replied no.  
 
Chairman Fox made a motion to reduce the penalty to $500.00 with the stipulation that all employees 
attend a RASP class within 45 days. Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. So Ordered. 
 
Chief Counsel Gregory stated that Ms. Paquita DeVane, manager of First Offense case #28, Big Kmart 
3116, was present to speak. Ms. DeVane stated that in November, 2008, the cashier sold alcohol to a 
person under 21 years of age. Ms. DeVane said the cashier stated that she looked at the birthdate and 
keyed it in wrong and that she and the company accepted responsibility for the cashier’s actions because 
she had been with them only two days. Ms. DeVane said that the cashier was taken off of the register and 
all register trainers along with the managers were retrained on the sale of restricted items.  
 
Ms. DeVane asked if they could have the suspension reduced and have someone from ABC come into the 
store to train all associates and management.  
 
Chairman Fox asked Ms. DeVane if she would rather have a six day suspension or $600.00 and take a 
RASP class. Ms. DeVane chose a six day suspension. 
 
Chairman Fox made a motion to reduce suspension to six days without a monetary penalty with the 
stipulation that all employees attend a RASP class within 45 days. Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. So 
Ordered. 
 
Chief Counsel Gregory stated that Mr. Patrick Butler, owner of hearing case #3, Bobs Convenient Mart, 
was present to speak on behalf of his business. Mr. Butler stated his store was about one block from the 
regional ALE office and the Agents come in their store. Mr. Butler said they had received several 
commendations for not selling alcohol to underage persons and since the infraction, all of the employees 
had been sent to a RASP class. Mr. Butler asked for a reduction in the fine. 
 
Chairman Fox asked if the employee was still with him. Mr. Butler replied yes.  
 
Chairman Fox made a motion to reduce the penalty to $500.00. Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. So 
Ordered. 
 



 

3 

 

Chief Counsel Gregory stated that Mr. Brian Temerson, manager of First Offense case #3, Denver Mini 
Mart, was present to speak. Mr. Temerson stated all the employees had taken the ABC class and were 
given the necessary tools to prevent an underage sale from happening again. Mr. Temerson said they had 
been in business for about five years.  
 
Commissioner Lyon made a motion to reduce the penalty to $600.00. Seconded by Chairman Fox. So 
Ordered. 
 
Chief Counsel Gregory stated that Mr. Andres Loza, owner of hearing case #52, Tonali Restaurant, was 
present to speak on behalf of his business. Mr. Loza stated he made a honest mistake and purchased three 
bottles of Triple Sec for his business in an ABC store. Mr. Loza said he was not aware it was liquor. Mr. 
Loza stated they do not have a license for mixed drinks. Mr. Loza stated he had all the employees take the 
training program. Mr. Loza stated they had been in business for three years and this was the first 
violation. 
 
Chairman Fox asked Mr. Loza how they were making margaritas now. Mr. Loza replied with wine and a 
Triple Sec syrup instead of liquor.   
 
Chairman made a motion to reduce the penalty to $500.00 with no active time. Seconded by 
Commissioner Lyon. So Ordered. 
 
Chief Counsel Gregory stated that the following cases be continued: First Offense case #8, Fast Pass, 
First Offense case #26, Winks of Corolla and hearing case #39, Food Lion 106. Chairman Fox made a 
motion to continue. Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. So Ordered. 
 
Chairman Fox made a motion to approve the remaining Offers in Compromise with the exception of 
hearing case #26, Lowes Foods 176, hearing case #13, Wrightsville Beach Marina, hearing case #3, Bobs 
Convenient Mart and hearing case #52, Tonali Restaurant. Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. So Ordered. 
 
The following were Add-On Hearing cases: 
 
#60 – Kangaroo Express 3081 
#61 – Tru Buy 33 
#62 – China Garden Buffett 
#63 – Four Brothers Food Store 211 
#64 – United Beverages of North Carolina 
#65 – Doyles Sports Bar 
#66 – Pub at Gateway 
#67 – Lucky Seven 
#68 – Ikolas West Indian Jamaican Restaurant and Lounge 
#69 – Zip N Go 3 
 
The following was an Add-On First Offense case: 
 
#29 – Petro Express 3942 
 



 

4 

 

II. FIRST OFFENSE CASES - 29   
 
The following is a list of first offense violation cases in which Final Agency Decisions were signed by the 
Chairman on March 24, 2009, pursuant to the Commission’s authorizing resolution dated November 8, 
2002: 
 
1. Accel – 1415 Lewisville Clemmons Road, Clemmons, NC 27012 
2. Corner Stop 24  –  694 North Washington Street, Rutherfordton, NC 28139 
3. Denver Mini Mart  –  3650 Hwy 16 North, Denver, NC 28037 
4. El Jarochita Mexican Restaurant  –  106 North Central Avenue, Pink Hill, NC 28572 
5. E Quick Shop  –  3700-A Spring Garden Street, Greensboro, NC 27407 
6. Embassy Suites Hotel  –  204 Centreport Drive, Greensboro, NC 27409  
7. Exxon 40539  –  1901 Pavilion Blvd, Charlotte, NC 28213 
8. Fast Pass  –  402 South Fayetteville Avenue, Siler City, NC 27344 
9. Fairmont Exxon  –  1429 Cotton Grove Road, Lexington, NC 27292 
10. Friendly Store 3  –  1388 Shelton Avenue, Statesville, NC 28677 
11. Fuel Doc 8  –  961 North Wesleyan Boulevard, Rocky Mount, NC 27804 
12. Harris Teeter 91  –  401 Pisgah Church Road, Greensboro, NC 27455 
13. Lowes Foods 162  –  6430 Tryon Road, Cary, NC 27513 
14. Madison Seafood Restaurant – 2181 Lawrence Circle, Rocky Mount, NC 27804 
15. La Fogata – 4933 South Croatan Hwy, Nags Head, NC 27959 
16. Nite Cap  –  1083 CBH Lodge Road, Washington, NC 27889  
17. Piggly Wiggly 33  –  2240 Hwy 258 North, Kinston, NC 28501 
18. Rite Aid Store 11333  –  2012 North Main Street, High Point, NC 27262 
19. Ruby Tuesday 4907  –  260 Underwood Road, Fletcher, NC 28732 
20. Ruby Tuesday 4722  –  3725 West Vernon Avenue, Kinston, NC 28504 
21. Shop and Go  –  6634 Clarks Neck Road, Washington, NC 27889 
22. Stop and Shop  –  4628 High Point Road, Greensboro, NC 27407 
23. Spot  –  1910 Poole Road, Raleigh, NC 27610 
24. Tradewinds Seafood and Oyster Company  –  1436-A East Main Street, Lincolnton, NC 28092 
25. Waldos Beach Road Mini Mart  –  6630 Waldos Beach Road, Fayetteville, NC 28306 
26. Winks of Corolla  –  1150 Ocean Trail, Corolla, NC 27927 
27. Zone Sports Bar and Gril l –  2443 Hope Mills Road, Fayetteville, NC 28304 
28. Big Kmart 3116  –  815 South College Road, Wilmington, NC 28403 
 
Chairman Fox made a motion to approve the Offers in Compromise for the First Offense cases with the 
exception of First Offense case #28, Big Kmart 3116 and First Offense case #3, Denver Mini Mart. 
Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. So Ordered. 
 



 

5 

 

III. ABC STORE LOCATION – WEAVERVILLE ABC BOARD 
 
Administrator Michael Herring addressed the Commission concerning the proposed location of an ABC 
Store in Buncombe County. On January 28, 2009, the Commission received a letter from the Weaverville 
ABC Board, requesting approval to open their first ABC Store. ALE Agent David Miller was assigned 
the investigation and he found that the proposed location will be in the Northridge Commons Centre 
which is currently under development. The proposed location is 7A Northridge Commons Parkway, 
Weaverville, North Carolina. 
 
The property is owned by HMVHN-3VHM, LLC and is a general contracting and property development 
company. 
 
The board plans to purchase this property for $410,000.00. The company developing the shopping center 
has agreed to construct the building for $1,000,000.00. The shopping center complex includes Wal-Mart, 
Lowes, retail stores and restaurants. 
 
The nearest church is North Point Baptist Church and is located .2 miles from the proposed location. 
 
The nearest school is North Buncombe Middle School and is located 1.5 miles from the proposed 
location. 
 
The construction of the building will be approximately 4,000 square feet and approximately 3,000 square 
feet will be retail space. 
 
Pursuant to ABC Commission Rules, Notice of Intent was posted on February 4, 2009, in compliance 
with the ABC Commission’s 30-day requirement.  
 
The projected sales volume at this new location will be approximately 1.5 million dollars the first year. 
 
Mr. Herring stated that the three board members had been to Raleigh to visit and show the plans. 
 
Chairman Fox made a motion to approve the new ABC Store but requested for someone to ask 
Weaverville if they had the project out for bid. Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. So Ordered.  
 
IV. ABC STORE LOCATION – GREENSBORO ABC BOARD   
 
Administrator Michael Herring addressed the Commission concerning the proposed relocation of an ABC 
Store in Guilford County. On February 25, 2009, the Commission received a letter from Katie Alley, 
General Manager of the Greensboro ABC Board, requesting approval to relocate their ABC Store on 
Pisgah Church Road. The proposed new location is in the same shopping center as the current store and 
will double their current store size. ALE Agent Chess McQueen began an investigation and found that the 
proposed ABC Store will be located in 423 Pisgah Church Road, Greensboro, North Carolina. It is in the 
shopping center consisting of restaurants, banks and other retail businesses. 
 
The new ABC Store will be approximately 4,923 square feet. The Board will be leasing this property for 
$6,051.00 per month. 
 
The nearest school is Twilight High School and is located approximately 0.3 mile from the proposed 
location. 
 



 

6 

 

The nearest church is Hill Crest Baptist Church and is located approximately 0.1 mile from the proposed 
location. 
 
Pursuant to ABC Commission Rules, Notice of Intent was posted on February 23, 2009, in compliance 
with the ABC Commission’s 30-day requirement. ALE Agent McQueen found one objection to this 
proposed location from the pastor of the Hill Crest Baptist Church. The pastor stated that alcohol was a 
drug and has negative effects on people. 
 
The projected sales volume at this new location will be approximately $3,000,000.00 a year. 
 
Mr. Herring recommended the ABC Commission approve this request for relocation of their ABC Store. 
 
The ABC Commission has received no objections to this proposed location. 
 
Commissioner Lyon made a motion to approve the proposed relocation of the ABC Store. Seconded by 
Chairman Fox. So Ordered. 
 
IV. OTHER BUSINESS – 
 
Administrator Michael Herring addressed the Commission concerning the proposed location of a new 
ABC Store in Asheville, North Carolina. This matter was continued from the last meeting due to the sign. 
On December 31, 2008, the Commission received a letter from Curtis Canty, CEO of the Asheville ABC 
Board, requesting approval to locate an additional ABC Store in Asheville. This would be their eleventh 
ABC Store in Asheville. ALE Agent Matt Davis found that the proposed site of the new ABC Store is 
located at 131 Old Charlotte Highway, Asheville, North Carolina. 
 
The Asheville ABC Board owns this property and purchased it from Suzanne Schmitt on September 25, 
2007. The property has been annexed into the City of Asheville. 
 
The proposed building will be approximately 3,500 square feet in a single story with 2,600 square feet 
being retail space. 
 
The nearest church is Fairview Church and is located approximately 0.4 mile from the proposed location. 
 
The nearest school is Reynolds High School and is located approximately 0.2 mile from the proposed 
location. 
 
The nearest ABC Store is on Tunnel Road. 
 
The sign was properly posted on December 23, 2008.  According to the investigative report, the sign was 
hidden between two bushes. Mr. Herring stated the sign was moved out to the road.  
 
Chairman Fox asked Mr. Herring how far inside or how far outside of the city limits were they.            
Mr. Herring replied they are in the city limits of Asheville. 
 
One objection has been received and it was that the location was too close to the school. 
 
The projected sales volume at this new location will be approximately 1.5 to 1.8 million a year. 
 
 



 

7 

 

The proposed location of the new ABC Store will be between Black Mountain and Asheville. 
Chairman Fox asked Mr. Herring if this was a spot annexation. 
 
Mr. Herring told Chairman Fox he could find out if it was a spot annexation and how much property was 
connected to the City of Asheville.  
 
Chairman Fox asked Mr. Herring why would the Board purchase the property without approval first.            
Mr. Herring stated he would find out. 
 
Mr. Herring stated he would continue this until the next meeting and get answers to the questions.      
 
Chief Counsel Fred Gregory asked Chairman Fox and Commissioner Lyon about future dates for May, 
June and July Commission meetings. Chairman Fox and Commissioner Lyon agreed upon Thursday,   
May 28, 2009. Chairman Fox and Commissioner Lyon stated they would notify the Legal Division of the 
future dates for the June and July Commission meetings. 
 
 
 
With no further business, the meeting adjourned. 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Douglas A. Fox, Chairman 
N.C. Alcoholic Beverage Control Commission 
  
Respectfully submitted by 
 
   
_____________________________________ 
Dottie L. Taylor, Legal Division 
 
     
 
      
 
        


